MAR 0 8 2017

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By\_\_\_\_\_

94252.8

Court Of Appeals No. 339386-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAMUEL SALMON and ROXY SALMON, Appellant,

v.
MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., Respondent,

Notice of Discretionary review by Washington State Supreme Court

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Samuel Salmon and Roxy Salmon Pro Se Appellant

> Samuel Salmon Roxy Salmon 917C Philpott Rd. Colville, WA 99114

(1) Cover

### (2)

#### a. TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Bain V. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn. 2d 83 (2012)

Pages 5, 11

Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986)

Pages 12, 15

Lee v. Western Processing, Co, <u>35 Wn. App. 466</u>, 469, 667 P.2d 638 (1983)

Pages 10, 11

Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., <u>166 Wn.2d 27</u>, 50, 204 P.3d 885 (2009) (quoting Sw. Sunsites, Inc. v. Fed. Trade Comm'n, 785 F.2d 1431, 1435 (9th Cir. 1986)).

Pages 22

State v. Ralph Williams' Nw. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc., <u>87 Wn.2d, 298, 305-</u>09, 553 P.2d 423 (1976)

Pages 13, 14

#### b. TABLE OF LAWS

RAP 13.4 (b)(3)(4)

Page 5, 6, 11, 14

RCW 19.86.010, Definitions

Page 17

RCW 19.86.020, Unfair competition, practices, declared unlawful

Pages 17, 19

RCW 19.86.030, Contracts, combinations, conspiracies in restraint of trade declared unlawful. Pages 5, 17, 19

RCW 19.86.040, Monopolies and attempted monopolies declared unlawful. Pages 17, 19

RCW 19.86.060 Acquisition of corporate stock by another corporation to lessen competition declared unlawful—Exceptions—Judicial order to divest

Pages 17, 19

RCW 19.86.090, Civil action for damages—Treble damages authorized Pages 17, 19, 23

RCW 19.108.030, Remedies for misappropriation—Damages.

Page 17

RCW 31.04.035, License required—when violation occurs

Page 10

RCW 40.16.020 Injury to and misappropriation of record.

Pages 11

15 U.S. Code § 1 - Trusts, etc., in restraint of trade illegal; penalty

Page 17

State Const, Art. 12 § 22

Pages 6, 18, 19

US Const. am. 7

Pages 6, 14, 20

US Const. am. 14 § 1

Pages 6, 14, 19, 20

#### (3) IDENTITY OF PETITIONER:

We, Samuel Salmon, and Roxy Salmon do hereby file this petition for review on behalf of us and for the relative public interest.

#### (4) CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION:

Washington Court Appeals Division III, Opinion No. 33938-6-11, filed on February 9, 2017.

#### (5) ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW:

- 1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a <sup>1</sup>decision of the Supreme Court pursuant RAP 13.4 (b)(1). The Washington Supreme Court decision authorizes the petitioner to litigate this action. Also the petitioner recognizes that because of the Washington Supreme Court decision the quality of MERS person has been exposed for the purpose of the public litigating injuries inflicted by MERS, so to receive protection due under the Consumer Protection Act (CPA).
- MERS person in its association and its actions present a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington, and of the United States, this petition involves issues of substantial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bain V. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.,175 <u>Wn.2d 83</u> "depending on whether the homeowner can produce evidence on each element required to prove a CPA claim".

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, pursuant RAP 13.4 (b)(3)(4).

MERS deceptive and unfair acts have injured the public, and their copartnership with national banks and GSEs are evidencing the legal appearance of a monopoly, pursuant RCW 19.86.030, and its footnote reference to *State Constitution Art.* 12 § 22.

- 3. Res judicata was improperly used to dismiss this case. MERS alleges RCW 61.24, et seq, is fundamentally the same cause as RCW 19.86 CPA. Salmons concede to some similarities, but assert the fundamentals between the cases are vastly different in depth, scope, and law.
- 4. The Salmons' State and US Constitutional rights in amendments 7, and 14, were not protected in the lower court decisions.

#### (6) STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### a. PARTIES

MERS provided electronic tracking service of mortgage records for several national banks including Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), and Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA). FNMA, and GNMA (GSE) produced uniform instruments, or Multistate Fixed Rate Notes Form 3200 (Note[s]). MERS listed itself on the Notes'

security instrument as "beneficiary". By MERS listing their name on the Notes' security instruments as the beneficiary, MERS not only tracked the records, but also controlled the beneficial assignments of their co-partners' private mortgage records. MERS was never a lender, financer, servicer, owner or holder of the Note[s], or its security instrument.

Samuel Salmon Signed a GSE Form 3200 Note for \$417,000.00. GSEs are chartered, and funded primarily by the United States Treasury Dept., or the US tax payers. The lender listed on the Salmons' Note is Countrywide Bank FSB. The beneficiary listed on the deed of trust is MERS. Bank of America collected on the Note from 2007 to 2010. MERS assigned the Note, and deed of trust to Bank of America, et al, on Sept 17, 2010, see CP at 125. On Nov 17, 2010 the Salmons filed a RCW 61.24, et seq, deed of trust act lawsuit (DOTA) against Bank of America, and MERS, et al. The Salmons' DOTA case was dismissed from the Eastern Washington Federal Court in 2011 Case No. 2:10-CV-00446-RMP. The Salmons filed this RCW 19.86 consumer protection act, case in June 2013 in Stevens County Superior Court (trial court) Case Number: 13-2-00281-5.

#### b. VALID PROCESS OF SERVICE

MERS as foreign corporation was served via Washington secretary of state (SOS). The SOS returned proper service of process, see CP at 1-3.

MERS became inactive in 2009; the SOS serves inactive corporations in as a rule. MERS did not respond to the summons on time.

#### c. COURT RECORD ERASED

The Salmons motioned for an order of default, and filed orders with the court. Being instructed by the county clerk's office the Salmons paid the ex-parte fee to have the orders reviewed by the judge; see CP at 41-45. These orders were later removed from the court record. Salmons when noticing the orders were removed from the record upon appeal motioned to supplement the record with copies of the orders and receipt retained in the Salmons personal records. The Washington State Appeal Court Division III (appeal court) granted the motion to supplement the record, with the orders, and receipt, and were re-entered into the record, see CP at 40-45. The appeal court did not address the erased orders, their opinion stated "This claim is outside the scope of the record on review and will not be addressed".

#### d. DEFAULT ORDER GRANTED

The Salmons filed another Motion for Default in Jan 2015. On February 17, 2015; Judge Patrick Monasmith granted the second Order of Default.

#### e. DEFAULT ORDER VACATED

#### i. IMPROPER JURISDICTION MISAPPLIED

June 19, 2015 MERS filed a motion to vacate order of default alleging improper service of process. MERS alleged the registered agent; Robert Jacobsen was not their registered agent, and cited a Northern California Case No. C 09-3600 SBA, which Judge Sandra Armstrong dismissed Robert Jacobsen from the case indicating some undisclosed agreement between the parties, see CP 256-260. Also a <sup>2</sup>permanent injunction order was later executed solely against MERS a "California corporation", not MERS the Delaware Corporation. see CP at 167 lines 18-20. The jurisdiction and venue of the case against only the California Corporation was misapplied to annul Washington SOS service of process on MERS.

#### ii. STATE AGENCY RECORDS IGNORED

MERS is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Reston, Virginia. The Delaware MERS registered with Washington department of revenue (DOR), MERS' DOR records show the same entity was served by Washington SOS, because they have the same UBI number at each agency, see CP at 173-180.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Having considered the Stipulated Permanent Injunction and Judgment, the Court finds no just reason for delay in entering a permanent injunction and judgment against defendant Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., <u>a California corporation</u>."

# iii. RES JUDICATA MISAPPLIED TO VACATE DEFAULT

In the hearing to vacate Judge Neilson inappropriately cited Salmons previous cases, or res judicata, as added reason to vacate the default, see RP at 6-7. July 21, 2015 the order of default was vacated.

August 19, 2015 MERS moved to dismiss, and Salmons moved to compel discovery on Sept 1, 2015. On Sept 30, 2015 at the hearing, MERS motion to dismiss was granted, and the Salmons discovery motion was denied, see CP at 24-25. The Salmons motioned to compel discovery in reference to <sup>3</sup>MERS Washington agency records and license required, as to reason why the trial court should have granted Salmons' motion to compel discovery to resolve the conflict between MERS claim of improper service that arose from their use of an extra jurisdictional California case, verses Washington's agencies records pursuant RCW 31.04.035. Service was valid on MERS, because [3] An affidavit of service that is regular in form and substance creates a presumption that the service was correct. The party challenging the service has the burden of showing by clear and convincing evidence that the service was improper. Lee v. Western Processing, Co, 35 Wn. App. 466, 469, 667 P.2d 638 (1983)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Washington agency records should be sufficient evidence of proper service. MERS DOTA CPA violations require MERS to have a business license, a requisite pursuant RCW 31.04.035 License required—when violation occurs.

#### f. RECUSAL DENIED

Salmons moved Judge Nielson to recuse himself because (1) in 2013 MERS didn't appear, defend, nor was there evidence of improper service of process, when Judge Nielson denied the original orders of default on Sept 26, 2013, see CP 41-45, his motive was also questionable because the orders were wrongfully removed from the record pursuant, RCW 40.16.020 Injury to and misappropriation of record asserting invalidity; also see <sup>4</sup>Lee v. Western Processing, Co, 35 Wn. App. 466, 469, 667 P.2d 638 (1983); (2) Judge Neilson misapplied <sup>5</sup>res judicata to vacate the order of default, see R P at 6-7; (3) Judge Nielson showed personal bias against Robert Jacobsen when calling him a "fly-by-night scam artist" on the record see RP at 26 lines 24, 25. Judge Nielson is required to be impartial, or recuse himself, see RP at 22 paragraph 2.

#### g. RECONSIDERATION DENIED

The Salmons motioned for reconsideration which was also denied at CP 37. The Salmons appealed to Appeal Court Division III in Spokane on December 8, 2015. On February 9, 2017 the appeal court dismissed the case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> [3] Process – Service – Validity – Affidavit of Service – Burden and Degree of Proof. An affidavit of service that is regular in form and substance creates a presumption that the service was correct. The party challenging the service has the burden of showing by clear and convincing evidence that the service was improper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Res judicata is irrelevant in vacating an order of default.

#### (7) ARGUMENT

a. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court pursuant RAP 13.4 (b) (1). Salmons pursue MERS CPA violations, and as authorized by the CPA and the 2012 Supreme Court decision showing actionable injury as required in Bain V. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, CONCLUSION "...a CPA action may be maintainable, but the mere fact MERS is listed on the deed of trust as a beneficiary is not itself an actionable injury." It is up to the Salmons to show the Supreme Court evidence of MERS CPA violations. To prevail on a CPA action, the plaintiff must show "[1] Consumer Protection - Action for Damages - Elements. To recover damages under the Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86), a private party must prove that the defendant's act or practice (1) is unfair or deceptive, (2) occurs in the conduct of any trade or commerce, (3) affects the public interest, and (4) causes (5) an injury to the plaintiff in his business or property. " Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986), and [2] Consumer Protection -Action for Damages - Unfair or Deceptive Conduct - What Constitutes. The unfair or deceptive act or practice element of a private cause of action under the Consumer Protection Act is satisfied if the conduct complained of has the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public, regardless of the defendant's intent to deceive.

## The (1) unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or commerce, is covered in this segment.

The first two elements of CPA violations are met when: MERS claims to be a beneficiary, when under a plain reading of the statute was not met, presumptively meets the deception element of a CPA action. This in itself is not an actionable CPA cause, but when MERS assigned the Salmons Note and mortgage, it causes actionable injury to the county records by clouding the title, because MERS was not at any time the beneficiary. Misrepresentation of the material terms of a transaction or the failure to disclose material terms violates the CPA cause, see *State v. Ralph Williams' Nw. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 87 Wn.2d, 298, 305-09, 553 P.2d 423 (1976).

MERS assignment of the Note was, also improper because it was signed by G. Hernandez, who was an employee of the trustee, Recontrust, and not MERS, see CP at 124. This further demonstrates the deception of MERS, see *Vizcaino v. Microsoft Corp.*, 120 F.3d 1006, 1011-12 (9th Cir. 1997) (noting that Microsoft's agreement with certain workers that they were not employees was not binding)., see also Bradburn v. ReconTrust, et al. No. 11-2-08345-2, (2014). "G. Hernandez" was not an employee of MERS but rather was employed by ReconTrust."

To insure there was no chicanery harming land title records the Salmons have requested a detailed list of MERS records before filing this 2013 CPA suit which MERS did not answer. MERS also ignored the motion for discovery in the initial CPA complaint also; see CP at 50, and 130-147. Misrepresentation of the material terms of a transaction or the failure to disclose material terms violates the CPA, <sup>6</sup>AG Br. at 11 (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f); Miguel v. Country Funding Corp., 309 F.3d 1161, 1162-65 (9th Cir. 2002)). See also <sup>7</sup>State v. Ralph Williams' Nw. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc., 87 Wn.2d, 298, 305-09, 553 P.2d 423 (1976). Whether particular actions are deceptive is a question of law that we review de novo. Leingang v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, 131 Wn.2d 133, 150, 930 P.2d 288 (1997).

c. A significant question of law under the State and US

Constitution Amendments 7, and 14

The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, pursuant RAP 13.4 (b)(3)(4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "MERS' concealment of loan transfers also could also deprive homeowners of other rights," such as the ability to take advantage of the protections of the Truth in Lending Act and other actions that require the homeowner to sue or negotiate with the actual holder of the promissory note. AG Br. at 11 (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f); Miguel v. Country Funding Corp., 309 F.3d 1161, 1162-65 (9th Cir. 2002)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> [5] Consumer Protection - Unfair Competition - Restitution - Examination of Assets - Jurisdiction. A proceeding to examine the defendant in a consumer protection action for purposes of determining his assets in connection with a restitution order is part of the consumer action itself and not a supplemental proceeding.

The (2) public interest impact; (4) injury to plaintiff in his or her business or property, are covered in this segment.

MERS was controlling the mortgage industry in a uniform manner by assigning the Note, in wholesale for approximately 65 million loans registered in its database in the US at their peak. MERS was created in 1995 to add another level of separation between the Note and its true Beneficiary[s] (tax payers).

County land records are of public domain by law, however MERS internal recording system of land records is proprietary and important details of the loans transfers are largely unavailable to the public, which is unfair, and deceptive causing injury to the public interest, and a violation of RCW 42.56.030 "The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created."

MERS records are not available to the public, so the public has no way to validate the debt, or insuring they are not the victim of predatory servicing or lending practices. There are no laws subjecting the public to MERS proprietary way of handling public records yet MERS uses their system to modify the public mortgage records at each county recorder's office. Because MERS control of the GSEs' Note and its security instrument via their arcane recording system, is unfair causing injury to the Salmons, and public by requiring undue effort to discover the true parties in interest. To

prove that an act or practice is deceptive, neither intent nor actual deception is required. The question is whether the conduct has "the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public." Hangman Ridge v. Safeco Title, 105 Wn.2d 775(1986),.

There is evidence here that MERS is involved with millions of mortgages in the country (and our state), perhaps as many as half nationwide, see footnote 5, and John R. Hooge & Laurie Williams, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.: A Survey of Cases Discussing MERS' Authority to Act, NORTON BANKR. L. ADVISORY No. 8, at 21 (Aug. 2010). "If in fact the language is unfair or deceptive, it would have a broad impact. This element is also presumptively met."

The national bank association, FNMA, and other GSEs in using MERS recording system are giving their status, or right of beneficiary over to MERS, a separate entity, to control, assign, or convey the interest in each Note and deed of trust. The act of so easily relinquishing beneficial rights to MERS, gives the appearance of chicanery or deception, because no true beneficiary would be so haphazard with their own investment.

The fact that the notes were not funded by the national banks but by the GSE, explains why some very low priced buyouts were executed among the major mortgage players. For instance, Countrywide, et al, sold 9

million loans worth about 1.5 Trillion dollars for about 4 billion dollars, which translates to about 1:375 of Countrywide's portfolio value, see <sup>8</sup>. Countrywide was the lender for the Salmons' servicing agreement worth 417.000.00 dollars. When Countrywide sold their portfolio for 1:375 of its value, the Salmons' servicing agreement was purchased by Bank of America for about \$1.112.00, or one thousand, one hundred, and twelve dollars. MERS co-partnership with these parties, in conjunction with their private records for such transactions, the price of each loan could be bargained and set without public knowledge, this is violates RCW 19.86.020, 19.86.030, 19.86.040, 19.86.060, 15 U.S. Code § 1, and unjust enrichment because the Salmons paid over \$70,000.00, or seventy thousand dollars on the mortgage which pertains to an RCW 19.86.090 and RCW 19.108.030 remedy.

Countrywide, Bank of America and FNMA were in an association, or copartnership with MERS. The act of selling the loans, or commodities at a fixed price, is also unconstitutional pursuant, State Constitution Art. 12 §

<sup>8</sup> CHARLOTTE, N.C., Jan. 11 /PRNewswire/ -- Bank of America Corporation today announced a definitive agreement to purchase Countrywide Financial Corp. in an all-stock transaction worth approximately \$4 billion. Bank of America would gain greater scale in originating and servicing mortgages in the U.S. Countrywide had \$408 billion in mortgage originations in 2007 and has a servicing portfolio of about \$1.5 trillion with 9 million loans. The purchase also includes Countrywide's Lender Placed insurance and other businesses,

http://investor.bankofamerica.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=71595&p=irolnewsArticle\_print&ID=1095252

22; 14 Amendment of the US Constitution, and in accordance with RCW 19.86.010--Definitions.

These kinds of transactions make evident why the national banks using MERS services, so readily relinquished their beneficial rights to a non-beneficiary. MERS inserted into the mortgage chain of title did not clarify the parties of interest, but served to further cloud the chain of title from the primary lender US Treasury Dept. (tax payers) to the borrowers (public).

MERS being created as, incorporated company, co-partnership, or association with their national banking partners, and FNMA, et al, could set or fix a price of a commodity (Note, and its security). This association would also be unfair to the traditional mortgage lenders, using their own private portfolio of resources to finance loans.

#### d. RES JUDICATA IMPROPER TO VACATE, DISMISS

Res judicata may not be a satisfactory ruling by the appeal court because all the elements were not met, see appeal court opinion page 5.

The previous case MERS references, to claim res judicata has a different cause of action, focused on the deed of trust records, applicable to an inappropriate foreclosure action. The CPA cause is not the same cause dismissed in the Salmons' previous RCW 61.24 deed of trust action, case number 10-2-00596-8, because it does not address MERS actions causing

disenfranchisement of the Salmons, and public by MERS restricting records of their associates which is unsafe to the public, and unfair for validating debt, pricing, trading, selling, transferring, assigning, endorsing, collecting, interest, fees, ownership, servicing contracts of the Note and its security which the public could not knowingly address, respond to, or benefit from as a party in interest pursuant RCW 19.86.020, 19.86.040, 19.86.050, or 19.86.060, RCW 19.86.090, and specifically RCW 19.86.030 footnote referring to Washington *State Const. Art.* 12 § 22 in regard to MERS the monopoly.

MERS, was created by conspirators to control loans and securities (commodities) allowing unfair pricing, which is by definition a monopoly, who by producing assignments of the note, and its security, causes a break in the chain of title, have thereby caused injury to the Salmons, and public records and the value thereof. The duty is upon MERS to insure that they were in alignment with all of the laws governing their actions. Even if the Salmons' two cases here are slightly related as to a specific violation regarding the DOT, this CPA case addresses many foundationally different elements which cover a broad spectrum of the Salmons'

<sup>9</sup>inalienable rights and legal protections not addressed, or covered under the DOT laws enacted in the Salmons' previous 2010 case.

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