RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

4/6/2017 11:51 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Court of Appeals Docket Number 339386-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAMUEL AND ROXY SALMON,

Appellants and Plaintiffs,

V.

MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.,

Respondent and Defendant.

Appeal from the Stevens County Superior Court Case No. 2013-2-00-2815

RESPONDENT MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

William G. Fig, WSBA 33943 Laurie R. Hager, WSBA 38643 SUSSMAN SHANK LLP 1000 SW Broadway, Suite 1400 Portland, OR 97205

Portland, OR 97205 Telephone: (503) 227-1111 Facsimile: (503) 248-0130

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners Samuel and Roxy Salmon ("Petitioners") filed multiple lawsuits in an attempt to invalidate the deed of trust recorded against their property. This lawsuit, Petitioners' third, was correctly dismissed by the trial court, and affirmed by the Court of Appeals, due to the *res judicata* and collateral estoppel effects of the judgments dismissing their prior lawsuits, both of which attempted to obtain the same improper relief. Petitioners' lawsuits and Petitioners' Petition for Review are designed merely to delay the inevitable foreclosure of their home. This is not a case suitable for the Supreme Court to exercise its discretion to review.

II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Respondent" or "Respondent MERS").

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Respondent disputes the issues that Petitioners state are

presented for review, as follows:

For Petitioners' first issue, Petitioners erroneously state that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, in *Bain v. Metro Mortgage Group, Inc.*, 175 Wn. 2d 83 (2012). The decision of the trial court, which the Court of Appeals affirmed, was based on *res judicata* and collateral estoppel grounds. Accordingly, the decision of the Court of Appeals was not based on any of the issues discussed in the *Bain* decision, and the trial court's decision did not rely upon any law or theory that is related to the issues in the *Bain* decision.

For Petitioners' second issue, Petitioners refer to unsupported facts and conjecture that are not evidence in the record.

For Petitioners' third issue, Petitioners concede that the claims asserted in this case and the claims adjudicated in their earlier actions are similar and that all three actions have the same goal - to invalidate the trust deed on their property to avoid or delay the foreclosure of their home.

For Petitioners' fourth issue, Petitioners provide no explanation for their contentions that their Constitutional rights were violated and, therefore, this is simply not a valid issue on review.

Respondent believes the correct issues on review are as follows:

- 1. Given that this action was dismissed based on the *res judicata* and collateral estoppel effect of Petitioners' two previous, failed lawsuits attempting to invalidate the mortgage lien against their home, is there a substantial public interest involved in this private matter that would provide a basis for the Supreme Court to exercise its discretion to review this case?
- 2. Since the Court of Appeals' decision is not inconsistent with any decision of the Supreme Court or published decision of the Court of Appeals, is there any basis for the Supreme Court to exercise its discretion to review this case?

///

///

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

1. Respondent MERS.

Respondent MERS is a Delaware corporation, with its principal place of business in Reston, Virginia. CP 162. MERS is not licensed to do business in Washington, nor does it have a registered agent in Washington. CP 163. Respondent MERS was not served with the Summons and Complaint in this action. CP 150.

2. Fake MERS.

On June 3, 2009, an individual named Robert Jacobson ("Jacobson") set up another entity named Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. as a <u>Washington</u> domestic corporation ("Fake MERS"). CP 176-178. Fake MERS has the same UBI No. as a company called "Mortgage Electronic Registry System." CP 173-182. Jacobson improperly established Fake MERS in order to trick people into thinking that he was a proper registered agent who could accept service on behalf of MERS.

CP 162-163. Jacobson then attempted to solicit payment from MERS to obtain the legal notices and documents received by fake MERS. CP 163. Jacobson has never been MERS' registered agent. CP 162-163.

Respondent MERS sued Jacobson in the US District Court, Northern District of California, Case No. 4:09-03600-SBA. On or about February 3, 2010, Respondent MERS obtained a permanent injunction against Jacobson, permanently enjoining him from using the name of Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. CP 162-163; CP 194-196. Fake MERS' Washington registration expired in June 2010. CP 202.

3. Petitioners Served Fake MERS, not Respondent MERS.

The Salmons served Fake MERS through the Washington Secretary of State. CP 1-3. The Salmons erroneously contended that service on Fake MERS somehow effected service on MERS.

4. Motion and Order to Vacate the Default.

Petitioners obtained a Default Order against MERS for its alleged failure to appear in the action. CP 017. As soon as

Respondent MERS learned of the Order of Default, it filed a Motion to Vacate the Default Order based on Petitioners' improper service of the Summons and Complaint ("the Motion"). CP 148-152; CP 154.

Based on the record presented to the trial court that Petitioners had served Fake MERS instead of Respondent MERS, the trial court properly granted the Motion and entered an order vacating the default order entered against Respondent MERS. CP 019-021 ("Order Vacating the Default").

Moreover, because the record clearly supported the trial court's Order Vacating the Default, there was no need for the Salmons' further requested discovery on the issue of Respondent MERS, Fake MERS, and whether Respondent MERS had been served.

5. Petitioners' Multiple Bites at the Same Apple.

In an attempt to stop the foreclosure of their property located at 917 A Philpott Rd., Colville, WA 99114-8278 (the "Property"), Petitioners filed two prior actions. In November

2010, Petitioners filed a lawsuit in Stevens County Superior Court against several defendants, including MERS. CP 215-236. That lawsuit was removed to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Washington, Case No. CV-10-446-RMP ("First Lawsuit"). Petitioners argued that the foreclosure could not proceed because Respondent MERS had not proven itself to be the original beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and, therefore, could not assign the Deed of Trust to BAC Home Loans. See CP 124. As a result, BAC Home Loans was not the proper beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and, therefore, could not foreclose the Deed of Trust. CP 229. The District Court considered and rejected this argument. CP 215-236. After giving the parties an opportunity to fully litigate and argue the issues, on May 25, 2011, the District Court entered a judgment dismissing the First Lawsuit with prejudice. CP 215-236. Petitioners did not appeal this dismissal.

Three months after the District Court dismissed the First Lawsuit with prejudice, Petitioners filed a second lawsuit in Stevens County Superior Court, Case No. 11-2-00426-9 ("Second Lawsuit") to stop the foreclosure of the Property. CP 214, ¶¶ 4, 5, CP 237-245. In the Second Lawsuit, the Salmons challenged BAC Home Loans' authority to foreclose because MERS executed an assignment of any interest it may have had in the Deed of Trust to BAC Home Loans. CP 237-244. Based on the preclusive effect of the First Lawsuit, on April 10, 2012, the Court entered a judgment dismissing the Second Lawsuit with prejudice. CP 237-244.

Like the First and Second Lawsuits, this lawsuit also asserted that the assignment of the Deed of Trust from Respondent MERS is "unlawful" and void and, therefore, the foreclosure process cannot continue. CP 53, 56-57. Respondent MERS filed a CR 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss this action based on *res judicata* and collateral estoppel. ¹ CP 204-

_

¹ On a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss based on *res judicata*, a court may consider documents outside the complaint, including public court documents from the prior litigation. ER 201(b) and (f); *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn. App. 709, 725-26, 189 P.3d 168 (2008) (holding

212. The trial court properly granted, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed, the CR 12(b)(6) motion in this case. CP 024-026.

6. Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration and Sour Grapes Motion to Recuse.

Disappointed that they did not receive a windfall for defaulting Respondent MERS without even serving it, Petitioners filed a motion for reconsideration and, after that motion was denied, Petitioners blamed their loss on the trial court judge that ruled on the issues, Judge Nielson. Each one of Judge Nielson's rulings, Orders, and Judgment is supported by the appropriate evidence and authorities. Judge Nielson properly denied Petitioners' motion for reconsideration and their motion for recusal.

t

that a court may take judicial notice of public documents when ruling on a motion to dismiss if their authenticity cannot be reasonably disputed); *Yurtis v. Phipps*, 143 Wn. App. 680, 689-93, 181 P.3d 849 (2008) (relying on pleadings from prior litigation to affirm trial court's grant of motion to dismiss plaintiff's claims based on *res judicata*). Accordingly, the Court may consider pleadings from the First Lawsuit and the Second Lawsuit, as those terms are defined.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals' decision is not inconsistent with the *Bain* decision.

Petitioners' prior two lawsuits to invalidate of the Deed of Trust recorded against their home were dismissed on May 25, 2011, and April 10, 2012, prior to the August 16, 2012 *Bain* decision. The trial court's decision in this case, affirmed by the Court of Appeals, was based on the effects of collateral estoppel and *res judicata* effects of those prior dismissals. Because the criteria for collateral estoppel and *res judicata* were met, the decisions in this case are appropriate. The decisions in this case were not based on application of an issue decided in the *Bain* decision. Thus, the collateral estoppel and *res judicata*-based decisions in this case are not in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Bain*.

Even if, *arguendo*, the prior dismissals that led to the collateral estoppel and *res judicata* bar to this action were inconsistent with *Bain*, the collateral estoppel and *res judicata* decision in this case would still be proper.

The *res judicata* effect of a final, unappealed judgment on the merits is not altered by the fact that the judgment may have been wrong or rested on a legal principle subsequently overruled in another case. *Federated Dep't Stores v. Moitie*, 452 U.S. 394, 398, 101 S.Ct. 2424, 2428 (1981). Explaining its decision, the *Moitie* Court said:

As this Court explained in *Baltimore S.S. Co.* v. Phillips, 274 U.S. 316, 325 (1927), an "erroneous conclusion" reached by the court in the first suit does not deprive the defendants in the second action "of their right to rely upon the plea of res *judicata*... A judgment merely voidable because based upon an erroneous view of the law is not open to collateral attack, but can be corrected only by a direct review and not by bringing another action upon the same cause [of action]." We have observed that "[the] indulgence of a contrary view would result in creating elements of uncertainty and confusion and in undermining the conclusive character of judgments, consequences which it was the very purpose of the doctrine of res judicata to avert."

Moitie, 452 U.S. 394 at 398-99, quoting Reed v. Allen, 286 U.S. 191, 201 (1932). Likewise, in Columbia Rentals v. State, 89 Wn.2d 819 (Wash. 1978), the Supreme Court of Washington

rejected an attempt to avoid *res judicata* on the grounds of a changed judicial interpretation of the law in a subsequent case. *Columbia Rentals, supra*, at 822 (citing *Pacific Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Henneford*, 199 Wash. 462, 92 P.2d 214 (1939). Here, claim preclusion bars Petitioners' attempt to relitigate their failed arguments from the First Lawsuit, which were dismissed with prejudice and without an appeal.

B. The decision of the Court of Appeals is based on issues unique to the parties and the circumstances of the case, and does not create a substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should review.

Petitioners' long discussion of the procedural history of this case, and their many grievances of the various rulings throughout the proceedings, demonstrates that this action has no public interest at all, much less a substantial one required under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Rather, this action relates to issues that are very unique to Petitioners.

The decision of the trial court, affirmed by the Court of Appeals, related to the setting aside of the default was based on

///

the unique circumstances of Petitioners serving the wrong party, *i.e.* Fake MERS.

The decision of the trial court, affirmed by the Court of Appeals, related to the dismissal of Petitioners' claims is based on Petitioners' prior attempts to achieve the same result, namely to have a court invalidate the trust deed recorded against their home in order to avoid the foreclosure of that trust deed. Likewise, the denial of Petitioners' motion for reconsideration of this decision is based on the same circumstances unique to Petitioners.

The decision of the trial court, affirmed by the Court of Appeals, related to denial of Petitioners' motions for recusal are unique to the unsupported allegations of Petitioners against the judge who ruled against them.

In an attempt to pique the Court's interest in this case, Petitioners have recited pages of unsupported accusations and conjecture regarding Respondent and its alleged general practices. *See* pages 15 through 20 of the Petition for Review.

These unsupported accusations and conjecture are not based on any facts in the record and have no bearing on the trial or appellate court's decision based on collateral estoppel and *res judicata* grounds. Thus, these "facts" should not be considered by the Court for the Petition for Review.

C. There is no significant question of law or Constitutional Question for the Court to review.

Petitioners recite unsupported allegations and conjecture about the Respondent, the mortgage industry, and mortgage loans to argue that there is a significant question of law involved. Petition, pp. 14-20. This case is not about any of those issues. Rather, as discussed above, this case was decided on collateral estoppel and *res judicata* grounds.

Petitioners also claim (without any explanation) that their due process rights and equal protection rights were violated. Petition for Review, p. 20. These accusations are not based on any argument or facts in the record. Rather, it appears Petitioners

///

randomly reference the Constitution in a futile attempt to pique the Court's interest. The Court should not take the bait.

IV. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Respondent MERS respectfully requests that this Court deny Petitioners' petition for discretionary review in this case.